
June 2, 2016

Via Electronic Filing

Ms. Catherine O’Hagan Wolfe, Clerk of Court
United States Court of Appeal for the Second Circuit
Thurgood Marshall United States Courthouse
40 Foley Square
New York, NY 10007

Re: Patterson v. Raymours Furniture Co., No. 15-2820-cv

Dear Ms. Wolfe:

Pursuant to F.R.A.P. 28(j), this letter advises the Court of relevant new
authority. On May 26, 2016, the Seventh Circuit decided Lewis v. Epic Systems
Corp., No. 15-2997, 2016 WL 3029464, __ F.3d __ (7th Cir. May 26, 2016),
directly addressing the same question at issue in Patterson v. Raymours Furniture
Co., No. 15-2820-cv, pending before this Court.

The Seventh Circuit’s decision fully supports the arguments set forth
throughout Appellants’ opening and reply briefs. Considering the enforceability of
a mandatory agreement that required individual arbitration of workplace disputes
and “did not permit collective arbitration or collective action in any other forum,”
the Seventh Circuit “conclude[d] that this agreement violates the National Labor
Relations Act, 29 U.S.C. §151, et seq., and is also unenforceable under the Federal
Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§1, et seq.” Lewis, Slip Op. at 1-2. The Seventh
Circuit’s decision also discusses at length and rejects the reasoning of the Fifth
Circuit’s contrary ruling in D.R. Horton, Inc. v. NLRB, 737 F.3d 344 (5th Cir.
2013), and the Eighth Circuit’s ruling in Owen v. Bristol Care, Inc., 702 F.3d 1050
(8th Cir. 2013), upon which Appellees rely.

The Lewis decision was circulated to all active judges of the Seventh Circuit
and none requested to hear the case en banc. Id. at 14 n.†.
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Further, on June 2, 2016, the Eighth Circuit decided Cellular Sales of
Missouri, LLC v. NLRB, Case No. 15-1620, __ F.3d __ (8th Cir. June 2, 2016).
The Eighth Circuit’s ruling, which rests entirely upon its prior decision in Owen v.
Bristol Care, Inc., 702 F.3d 1050 (8th Cir. 2013), does not cite the Seventh
Circuit’s decision in Lewis (issued one week earlier) and makes no effort to
address the reasoning of Lewis or its discussion of the flaws in Owen.

Copies of both the Lewis and Cellular Sales decisions are enclosed.

Respectfully submitted,

/s/Michael Rubin
Michael Rubin

Attorney for Appellants Connie Patterson
and David Ambrose
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In the 

United States Court of Appeals 
For the Seventh Circuit 

____________________ 
No. 15-2997 

JACOB LEWIS, 
Plaintiff-Appellee, 

v. 

EPIC SYSTEMS CORPORATION, 
Defendant-Appellant. 

____________________ 

Appeal from the United States District Court for the 
Western District of Wisconsin. 

No. 15-cv-82-bbc — Barbara B. Crabb, Judge. 
____________________ 

ARGUED FEBRUARY 12, 2016 — DECIDED MAY 26, 2016 
____________________ 

Before WOOD, Chief Judge, ROVNER, Circuit Judge, and 
BLAKEY, District Judge.* 

WOOD, Chief Judge. Epic Systems, a health care software 
company, required certain groups of employees to agree to 
bring any wage-and-hour claims against the company only 
through individual arbitration. The agreement did not permit 

                                                 
* Of the Northern District of Illinois, sitting by designation.  
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2 No. 15-2997 

collective arbitration or collective action in any other forum. 
We conclude that this agreement violates the National Labor 
Relations Act (NLRA), 29 U.S.C. §§ 151, et seq., and is also un-
enforceable under the Federal Arbitration Act (FAA), 9 U.S.C. 
§§ 1, et seq. We therefore affirm the district court’s denial of 
Epic’s motion to compel arbitration. 

I 

On April 2, 2014, Epic Systems sent an email to some of its 
employees. The email contained an arbitration agreement 
mandating that wage-and-hour claims could be brought only 
through individual arbitration and that the employees 
waived “the right to participate in or receive money or any 
other relief from any class, collective, or representative pro-
ceeding.” The agreement included a clause stating that if the 
“Waiver of Class and Collective Claims” was unenforceable, 
“any claim brought on a class, collective, or representative ac-
tion basis must be filed in a court of competent jurisdiction.” 
It also said that employees were “deemed to have accepted 
this Agreement” if they “continue[d] to work at Epic.” Epic 
gave employees no option to decline if they wanted to keep 
their jobs. The email requested that recipients review the 
agreement and acknowledge their agreement by clicking two 
buttons. The following day, Jacob Lewis, then a “technical 
writer” at Epic, followed those instructions for registering his 
agreement. 

Later, however, Lewis had a dispute with Epic, and he did 
not proceed under the arbitration clause. Instead, he sued 
Epic in federal court, contending that it had violated the Fair 
Labor Standards Act (FLSA), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq. and Wis-
consin law by misclassifying him and his fellow technical 
writers and thereby unlawfully depriving them of overtime 
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No. 15-2997 3 

pay. Epic moved to dismiss Lewis’s claim and compel individ-
ual arbitration. Lewis responded that the arbitration clause vi-
olated the NLRA because it interfered with employees’ right 
to engage in concerted activities for mutual aid and protection 
and was therefore unenforceable. The district court agreed 
and denied Epic’s motion. Epic appeals, arguing that the dis-
trict court erred in declining to enforce the agreement under 
the FAA. We review de novo a district court’s decision to deny 
a motion to compel arbitration. Gore v. Alltel Commc’ns, LLC, 
666 F.3d 1027, 1033 (7th Cir. 2012). 

II 

A 

Section 7 of the NLRA provides that “[e]mployees shall 
have the right to self-organization, to form, join, or assist labor 
organizations, to bargain collectively through representatives 
of their own choosing, and to engage in other concerted activ-
ities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual 
aid or protection.” 29 U.S.C. § 157. Section 8 enforces Section 
7 unconditionally by deeming that it “shall be an unfair labor 
practice for an employer ... to interfere with, restrain, or coerce 
employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed in [Section 
7].” Id. § 158(a)(1). The National Labor Relations Board is “em-
powered ... to prevent any person from engaging in any unfair 
labor practice ... affecting commerce.” Id. § 160(a).  

Contracts “stipulat[ing] ... the renunciation by the employ-
ees of rights guaranteed by the [NLRA]” are unlawful and 
may be declared to be unenforceable by the Board. Nat’l Lico-
rice Co. v. NLRB, 309 U.S. 350, 365 (1940) (“[I]t will not be open 
to any tribunal to compel the employer to perform the acts, 
which, even though he has bound himself by contract to do 
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4 No. 15-2997 

them, would violate the Board’s order or be inconsistent with 
any part of it[.]”); J.I. Case Co. v. NLRB, 321 U.S. 332, 337 (1944) 
(“Wherever private contracts conflict with [the Board’s] func-
tions, they obviously must yield or the [NLRA] would be re-
duced to a futility.”). In accordance with this longstanding 
doctrine, the Board has, “from its earliest days,” held that 
“employer-imposed, individual agreements that purport to 
restrict Section 7 rights” are unenforceable. D. R. Horton, Inc., 
357 N.L.R.B. No. 184 at *5 (2012) (collecting cases as early as 
1939), enf’d in part and granted in part, D.R. Horton, Inc. v. NLRB, 
737 F.3d 344 (5th Cir. 2013). It has done so with “uniform ju-
dicial approval.” Id. (citing as examples NLRB v. Vincennes 
Steel Corp., 117 F.2d 169, 172 (7th Cir. 1941), NLRB v. Jahn & 
Ollier Engraving Co., 123 F.2d 589, 593 (7th Cir. 1941), and 
NLRB v. Adel Clay Products Co., 134 F.2d 342 (8th Cir. 1943)).  

Section 7’s “other concerted activities” have long been held 
to include “resort to administrative and judicial forums.” 
Eastex, Inc. v. NLRB, 437 U.S. 556, 566 (1978) (collecting cases). 
Similarly, both courts and the Board have held that filing a 
collective or class action suit constitutes “concerted activit[y]” 
under Section 7. See Brady v. Nat’l Football League, 644 F.3d 661, 
673 (8th Cir. 2011) (“[A] lawsuit filed in good faith by a group 
of employees to achieve more favorable terms or conditions 
of employment is ‘concerted activity’ under § 7 of the National 
Labor Relations Act.”); Altex Ready Mixed Concrete Corp. v. 
NLRB, 542 F.2d 295, 297 (5th Cir. 1976) (same); Leviton Mfg. Co. 
v. NLRB, 486 F.2d 686, 689 (1st Cir. 1973) (same); Mohave Elec. 
Co-op., Inc. v. NLRB, 206 F.3d 1183, 1189 (D.C. Cir. 2000) (single 
employee’s filing of a judicial petition constituted “concerted 
action” under NLRA where “supported by fellow employ-
ees”); D. R. Horton, 357 N.L.R.B. No. 184, at *2 n.4 (collecting 
cases). This precedent is in line with the Supreme Court’s rule 
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No. 15-2997 5 

recognizing that even when an employee acts alone, she may 
“engage in concerted activities” where she “intends to induce 
group activity” or “acts as a representative of at least one 
other employee.” NLRB v. City Disposal Systems, Inc., 465 U.S. 
822, 831 (1984). 

Section 7’s text, history, and purpose support this rule. In 
evaluating statutory language, a court asks first “whether the 
language at issue has a plain and unambiguous meaning with 
regard to the particular dispute in the case.” Exelon Generation 
Co., LLC v. Local 15, Int’l Bhd. of Elec. Workers, AFL-CIO, 676 
F.3d 566, 570 (7th Cir. 2012). In doing so, it “giv[es] the words 
used their ordinary meaning.” Lawson v. FMR LLC, 134 S. Ct. 
1158, 1165 (2014) (internal citation omitted). “Absent a clearly 
expressed legislative intention to the contrary, that language 
must ordinarily be regarded as conclusive.” Consumer Prod. 
Safety Comm'n v. GTE Sylvania, Inc., 447 U.S. 102, 108 (1980). 

The NLRA does not define “concerted activities.” The or-
dinary meaning of the word “concerted” is: “jointly arranged, 
planned, or carried out; coordinated.” Concerted, NEW OXFORD 

AMERICAN DICTIONARY 359 (3d ed. 2010). Activities are 
“thing[s] that a person or group does or has done” or “actions 
taken by a group in order to achieve their aims.” Id. at 16. Col-
lective or class legal proceedings fit well within the ordinary 
understanding of “concerted activities.”  

The NLRA’s history and purpose confirm that the phrase 
“concerted activities” in Section 7 should be read broadly to 
include resort to representative, joint, collective, or class legal 
remedies. (There is no hint that it is limited to actions taken 
by a formally recognized union.) Congress recognized that, 
before the NLRA, “a single employee was helpless in dealing 
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6 No. 15-2997 

with an employer,” and “that union was essential to give la-
borers opportunity to deal on an equality with their em-
ployer.” NLRB v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S. 1, 33 
(1937). In enacting the NLRA, Congress’s purpose was to “to 
equalize the bargaining power of the employee with that of 
his employer by allowing employees to band together in con-
fronting an employer regarding the terms and conditions of 
their employment.” City Disposal Systems, 465 U.S. at 835. 
Congress gave “no indication that [it] intended to limit this 
protection to situations in which an employee’s activity and 
that of his fellow employees combine with one another in any 
particular way.” Id.  

Collective, representative, and class legal remedies allow 
employees to band together and thereby equalize bargaining 
power. See Phillips Petrol. Co. v. Shutts, 472 U.S. 797, 809 (1985) 
(noting that the class action procedure allows plaintiffs who 
would otherwise “have no realistic day in court” to enforce 
their rights); Harry Kalven, Jr. & Maurice Rosenfield, The Con-
temporary Function of the Class Suit, 8 U. CHI. L. REV. 684, 686 
(1941) (noting that class suits allow those “individually in a 
poor position to seek legal redress” to do so, and that “an ef-
fective and inclusive group remedy” is necessary to ensure 
proper enforcement of rights). Given Section 7’s intentionally 
broad sweep, there is no reason to think that Congress meant 
to exclude collective remedies from its compass.  

Straining to read the term through our most Epic-tinted 
glasses, “concerted activity” might, at the most, be read as 
ambiguous as applied to collective lawsuits. But even if Sec-
tion 7 were ambiguous—and it is not—the Board, in accord-
ance with the reasoning above, has interpreted Sections 7 and 
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8 to prohibit employers from making agreements with indi-
vidual employees barring access to class or collective reme-
dies. See D. R. Horton, 357 N.L.R.B. No. 184, at *5. The Board’s 
interpretations of ambiguous provisions of the NLRA are “en-
titled to judicial deference.” Lechmere, Inc. v. NLRB, 502 U.S. 
527, 536 (1992). This Court has held that the Board’s views are 
entitled to Chevron deference, see Int’l Ass’n of Machinists & 
Aerospace Workers v. NLRB, 133 F.3d 1012, 1015 (7th Cir. 1998), 
and the Supreme Court has repeatedly cited Chevron in de-
scribing its deference to the NLRB’s interpretation of the 
NLRA, see, e.g., Lechmere, 502 U.S. at 536; NLRB v. United Food 
& Commercial Workers Union, Local 23, AFL-CIO, 484 U.S. 112, 
123 (1987). The Board’s interpretation is, at a minimum, a sen-
sible way to understand the statutory language, and thus we 
must follow it.  

Epic argues that because the Rule 23 class action proce-
dure did not exist in 1935, when the NLRA was passed, the 
Act could not have been meant to protect employees’ rights to 
class remedies. See FED. R. CIV. P. 23 (Committee Notes de-
scribing the initial 1937 version of the rule and later amend-
ments). We are not persuaded. First, by protecting not only 
employees’ “right to self-organization, to form, join, or assist 
labor organizations, [and] to bargain collectively through rep-
resentatives of their own choosing” but also “other concerted 
activities for the purpose of ... other mutual aid or protection,” 
Section 7’s text signals that the activities protected are to be 
construed broadly. 29 U.S.C. § 157 (emphasis added); see City 
Disposal Systems, 465 U.S. at 835. There is no reason to think 
that Congress intended the NLRA to protect only “concerted 
activities” that were available at the time of the NLRA’s enact-
ment.  
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Second, the contract here purports to address all collective 
or representative procedures and remedies, not just class ac-
tions. Rule 23 may have been yet to come at the time of the 
NLRA’s passage, but it was not written on a clean slate. Other 
class and collective procedures had existed for a long time on 
the equity side of the court: permissive joinder of parties, for 
instance, had long been part of Anglo-American civil proce-
dure and was encouraged in 19th-century federal courts. 
CHARLES ALAN WRIGHT & ARTHUR R. MILLER, 7 FEDERAL 

PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 1651 (3d ed. 2015) (noting that 
federal equity courts encouraged permissive joinder of par-
ties as early as 1872). As early as 1853, it was “well estab-
lished” that representative suits were appropriate “where the 
parties interested are numerous, and the suit is for an object 
common to them all.” Smith v. Swormstedt, 57 U.S. 288, 302 
(1853) (allowing representative suit on behalf of more than 
1,500 Methodist preachers). In fact, representative and collec-
tive legal procedures have been employed since the medieval 
period. See STEPHEN C. YEAZELL, FROM MEDIEVAL GROUP 

LITIGATION TO THE MODERN CLASS ACTION 38 (1987) (discuss-
ing group litigation in England occurring as early as 1199 
C.E.). The FLSA itself provided for collective and representa-
tive actions when it was passed in 1938. See, e.g., Williams v. 
Jacksonville Terminal Co., 315 U.S. 386, 390 n.3 (1942) (allowing 
suits by employees on behalf of “him or themselves and other 
employees similarly situated” (quoting FLSA, 29 U.S.C. 
§ 216(b))).  

Congress was aware of class, representative, and collective 
legal proceedings when it enacted the NLRA. The plain lan-
guage of Section 7 encompasses them, and there is no evi-
dence that Congress intended them to be excluded. Section 7’s 
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plain language controls, GTE Sylvania, 447 U.S. at 108, and 
protects collective legal processes. Along with Section 8, it 
renders unenforceable any contract provision purporting to 
waive employees’ access to such remedies. 

B 

The question thus becomes whether Epic’s arbitration pro-
vision impinges on “Section 7 rights.” The answer is yes.  

In relevant part, the contract states “that covered claims 
will be arbitrated only on an individual basis,” and that em-
ployees “waive the right to participate in or receive money or 
any other relief from any class, collective, or representative 
proceeding.” It stipulates that “[n]o party may bring a claim 
on behalf of other individuals, and any arbitrator hearing [a] 
claim may not: (i) combine more than one individual’s claim 
or claims into a single case; (ii) participate in or facilitate noti-
fication of others of potential claims; or (iii) arbitrate any form 
of a class, collective or representative proceeding.” It notes 
that “covered claims” include any “claimed violation of wage-
and-hour practices or procedures under local, state, or federal 
statutory or common law.” It thus combines two distinct 
rules: first, any wage-and-hour dispute must be submitted to 
arbitration rather than pursued in court; and second, no mat-
ter where the claim is brought, the plaintiff may not take ad-
vantage of any collective procedures available in the tribunal. 

Insofar as the second aspect of its provision is concerned, 
Epic’s clause runs straight into the teeth of Section 7. The pro-
vision prohibits any collective, representative, or class legal 
proceeding. Section 7 provides that “[e]mployees shall have 
the right to ... engage in ... concerted activities for the purpose 
of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protection.” 29 
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U.S.C. § 157. A collective, representative, or class legal pro-
ceeding is just such a “concerted activit[y].” See Eastex, 437 
U.S. at 566; Brady, 644 F.3d at 673; D. R. Horton, 357 N.L.R.B. 
No. 184, at *2–3. Under Section 8, any employer action that 
“interfere[s] with, restrain[s], or coerce[s] employees in the 
exercise of the rights guaranteed in [Section 7]” constitutes an 
“unfair labor practice.” 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1). Contracts that 
stipulate away employees’ Section 7 rights or otherwise re-
quire actions unlawful under the NRLA are unenforceable. 
See Nat’l Licorice Co., 309 U.S. at 361; D. R. Horton, 357 N.L.R.B. 
No. 184, at *5.  

We are aware that the circuits have some differences of 
opinion in this area, although those differences do not affect 
our analysis here. The Ninth Circuit has held that an arbitra-
tion agreement mandating individual arbitration may be en-
forceable where the employee had the right to opt out of the 
agreement without penalty, reasoning that the employer 
therefore did not “interfere with, restrain, or coerce” her in 
violation of Section 8. Johnmohammadi v. Bloomingdale's, Inc., 
755 F.3d 1072, 1077 (9th Cir. 2014). The Ninth Circuit’s deci-
sion in Johnmohammadi conflicts with a much earlier decision 
from this court, which held that contracts between employers 
and individual employees that stipulate away Section 7 rights 
necessarily interfere with employees’ exercise of those rights 
in violation of Section 8. See NLRB v. Stone, 125 F.2d 752, 756 
(7th Cir. 1942). Stone, which has never been undermined, held 
that where the “employee was obligated to bargain individu-
ally,” an arbitration agreement limiting Section 7 rights was a 
per se violation of the NLRA and could not “be legalized by 
showing the contract was entered into without coercion.” Id. 
(“This is the very antithesis of collective bargaining.” (citing 
NLRB v. Superior Tanning Co., 117 F.2d 881, 890 (7th Cir. 
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1940))). The Board has long held the same. See D.R. Horton, 
357 N.L.R.B. No. 184, at *5–7 (citing J. H. Stone & Sons, 33 
N.L.R.B. 1014 (1941) and Superior Tanning Co., 14 N.L.R.B. 942 
(1939)). (In Johnmohammadi, the Ninth Circuit, without expla-
nation, did not defer to the Board.) We have no need to re-
solve these differences today, however, because in our case, it 
is undisputed that assent to Epic’s arbitration provision was 
a condition of continued employment. A contract that limits 
Section 7 rights that is agreed to as a condition of continued 
employment qualifies as “interfer[ing] with” or “restrain[ing] 
... employees in the exercise” of those rights in violation of 
Section 8(a)(1). 29 U.S.C. § 157(a)(1). 

In short, Sections 7 and 8 of the NLRA render Epic’s arbi-
tration provision unenforceable. Even if this were not the 
case, the Board has found that substantively identical arbitra-
tion agreements, agreed to under similar conditions, violate 
Sections 7 and 8. See D. R. Horton, 357 N.L.R.B. No. 184; Mur-
phy Oil USA, Inc., 361 N.L.R.B. No. 72 (2014), enf’d in part and 
granted in part, Murphy Oil USA, Inc. v. NLRB, 808 F.3d 1013 
(5th Cir. 2015). We conclude that, insofar as it prohibits collec-
tive action, Epic’s arbitration provision violates Sections 7 and 
8 of the NLRA. 

III 

That would be all that needs to be said, were it not for the 
Federal Arbitration Act. Epic argues that the FAA overrides 
the labor law doctrines we have been discussing and entitles 
it to enforce its arbitration clause in full. Looking at the arbi-
tration agreement, it is not clear to us that the FAA has any-
thing to do with this case. The contract imposes two rules: (1) 
no collective action, and (2) proceed in arbitration. But it does 
not stop there. It also states that if the collective-action waiver 
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is unenforceable, then any collective claim must proceed in 
court, not arbitration. Since we have concluded in Part II of 
this opinion that the collective-action waiver is incompatible 
with the NLRA, we could probably stop here: the contract it-
self demands that Lewis’s claim be brought in a court. Epic, 
however, contends that we should ignore the contract’s sav-
ing clause because the FAA trumps the NLRA. In essence, 
Epic says that even if the NLRA killed off the collective-action 
waiver, the FAA resuscitates it, and along with it, the rest of 
the arbitration apparatus. We reject this reading of the two 
laws. 

In relevant part, the FAA provides that any written con-
tract “evidencing a transaction involving commerce to settle 
by arbitration a controversy thereafter arising out of such con-
tract or transaction ... shall be valid, irrevocable, and enforce-
able, save upon such grounds as exist at law or in equity for 
the revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C. § 2. Enacted in “re-
sponse to judicial hostility to arbitration,” CompuCredit Corp. 
v. Greenwood, 132 S. Ct. 665, 668 (2012), its purpose was “to 
make arbitration agreements as enforceable as other con-
tracts, but not more so.” Prima Paint Corp. v. Flood & Conklin 
Mfg. Co., 388 U.S. 395, 404 n.12 (1967). Federal statutory claims 
are just as arbitrable as anything else, unless the FAA’s man-
date has been ‘overridden by a contrary congressional com-
mand.’” CompuCredit, 132 S. Ct. at 669 (quoting Shear-
son/American Express Inc. v. McMahon, 482 U.S. 220, 226 
(1987)). The FAA’s “saving clause permits agreements to ar-
bitrate to be invalidated by ‘generally applicable contract de-
fenses,’ ... but not by defenses that apply only to arbitration or 
that derive their meaning from the fact that an agreement to 
arbitrate is at issue.” AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion, 563 
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U.S. 333, 339 (2011) (quoting Doctor’s Associates, Inc. v. Casa-
rotto, 517 U.S. 681, 687 (1996)). 

Epic argues that the NLRA contains no “contrary congres-
sional command” against arbitration, and that the FAA there-
fore trumps the NLRA. But this argument puts the cart before 
the horse. Before we rush to decide whether one statute eclip-
ses another, we must stop to see if the two statutes conflict at 
all. See Vimar Seguros y Reaseguros, S.A. v. M/V Sky Reefer, 515 
U.S. 528, 533 (1995). In order for there to be a conflict between 
the NLRA as we have interpreted it and the FAA, the FAA 
would have to mandate the enforcement of Epic’s arbitration 
clause. As we now explain, it does not. 

A 

Epic must overcome a heavy presumption to show that the 
FAA clashes with the NLRA. “[W]hen two statutes are capa-
ble of co-existence ... it is the duty of the courts, absent a 
clearly expressed congressional intention to the contrary, to 
regard each as effective.” Vimar Seguros, 515 U.S. at 533 (ap-
plying canon to find FAA compatible with other statute) 
(quoting Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 551 (1974)). More-
over, “[w]hen two statutes complement each other”—that is, 
“each has its own scope and purpose” and imposes “different 
requirements and protections”—finding that one precludes 
the other would flout the congressional design. POM Wonder-
ful LLC v. Coca-Cola Co., 134 S. Ct. 2228, 2238 (2014) (internal 
citations omitted). Courts will harmonize overlapping stat-
utes “so long as each reaches some distinct cases.” J.E.M. Ag 
Supply, Inc. v. Pioneer Hi-Bred Int’l, Inc., 534 U.S. 124, 144 
(2001). Implied repeal should be found only when there is an 
“‘irreconcilable conflict’ between the two federal statutes at is-
sue.” Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Epstein, 516 U.S. 367, 381 
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(1996) (quoting Kremer v. Chem. Const. Corp., 456 U.S. 461, 468 
(1982)). 

Epic has not carried that burden, because there is no con-
flict between the NLRA and the FAA, let alone an irreconcila-
ble one. As a general matter, there is “no doubt that illegal 
promises will not be enforced in cases controlled by the fed-
eral law.” Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullins, 455 U.S. 72, 77 (1982). 
The FAA incorporates that principle through its saving clause: 
it confirms that agreements to arbitrate “shall be valid, irrev-
ocable, and enforceable, save upon such grounds as exist at 
law or in equity for the revocation of any contract.” 9 U.S.C. 
§ 2. Illegality is one of those grounds. See Buckeye Check Cash-
ing, Inc. v. Cardegna, 546 U.S. 440, 444 (2006) (noting that ille-
gality is a ground preventing enforcement under § 2). The 
NLRA prohibits the enforcement of contract provisions like 
Epic’s, which strip away employees’ rights to engage in “con-
certed activities.” Because the provision at issue is unlawful 
under Section 7 of the NLRA, it is illegal, and meets the crite-
ria of the FAA’s saving clause for nonenforcement. Here, the 
NLRA and FAA work hand in glove.  

B 

In D.R. Horton, Inc. v. NLRB, the Fifth Circuit came to the 
opposite conclusion.† 737 F.3d at 357. Drawing from dicta that 
first appeared in Concepcion, 563 U.S. at 348, and was then re-
peated in American Express Co. v. Italian Colors Restaurant, 133 
S. Ct. 2304, 2310 (2013), the Fifth Circuit reasoned that because 
class arbitration sacrifices arbitration’s “principal advantage” 

                                                 
†  Because this opinion would create a conflict in the circuits, we have 

circulated it to all judges in active service under Circuit Rule 40(e). No 
judge wished to hear the case en banc. 
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of informality, “makes the process slower, more costly, and 
more likely to generate procedural morass than final judg-
ment,” “greatly increases risks to defendants,” and “is poorly 
suited to the higher stakes of class litigation,” the “effect of 
requiring class arbitration procedures is to disfavor arbitra-
tion.” D.R. Horton, 737 F.3d at 359 (quoting Concepcion, 563 
U.S. at 348–52); see also Italian Colors, 133 S. Ct. at 2312. The 
Fifth Circuit suggested that because the FAA “embod[ies] a 
national policy favoring arbitration and a liberal federal pol-
icy favoring arbitration agreements,” Concepcion, 563 U.S. at 
346 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted), any law 
that even incidentally burdens arbitration—here, Section 7 of 
the NLRA—necessarily conflicts with the FAA. See D.R. Hor-
ton, 737 F.3d at 360 (“Requiring a class mechanism is an actual 
impediment to arbitration and violates the FAA. The saving 
clause is not a basis for invalidating the waiver of class proce-
dures in the arbitration agreement.”). 

There are several problems with this logic. First, it makes 
no effort to harmonize the FAA and NLRA. When addressing 
the interactions of federal statutes, courts are not supposed to 
go out looking for trouble: they may not “pick and choose 
among congressional enactments.” Morton, 417 U.S. at 551. 
Rather, they must employ a strong presumption that the stat-
utes may both be given effect. See id. The savings clause of the 
FAA ensures that, at least on these facts, there is no irreconcil-
able conflict between the NLRA and the FAA.  

Indeed, finding the NLRA in conflict with the FAA would 
be ironic considering that the NLRA is in fact pro-arbitration: 
it expressly allows unions and employers to arbitrate disputes 
between each other, see 29 U.S.C. § 171(b), and to negotiate 
collective bargaining agreements that require employees to 
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arbitrate individual employment disputes. See 14 Penn Plaza 
LLC v. Pyett, 556 U.S. 247, 257-58 (2009); City Disposal Systems, 
465 U.S. at 836–37. The NLRA does not disfavor arbitration; in 
fact, it is entirely possible that the NLRA would not bar Epic’s 
provision if it were included in a collective bargaining agree-
ment. See City Disposal Systems, 465 U.S. at 837. (“[I]f an em-
ployer does not wish to tolerate certain methods by which em-
ployees invoke their collectively bargained rights, [it] is free 
to negotiate a provision in [its] collective-bargaining agree-
ment that limits the availability of such methods.”). If Epic’s 
provision had permitted collective arbitration, it would not 
have run afoul of Section 7 either. But it did not, and so it ran 
up against the substantive right to act collectively that the 
NLRA gives to employees. 

Neither Concepcion nor Italian Colors goes so far as to say 
that anything that conceivably makes arbitration less attractive 
automatically conflicts with the FAA, nor does either case 
hold that an arbitration clause automatically precludes collec-
tive action even if it is silent on that point. In Concepcion, the 
Supreme Court found incompatible with the FAA a state law 
that declared arbitration clauses to be unconscionable for low-
value consumer claims. See Concepcion, 563 U.S. at 340. The 
law was directed toward arbitration, and it was hostile to the 
process. Here, we have nothing of the sort. Instead, we are 
reconciling two federal statutes, which must be treated on 
equal footing. The protection for collective action found in the 
NLRA, moreover, extends far beyond collective litigation or 
arbitration; it is a general principle that affects countless as-
pects of the employer/employee relationship.  

This case is actually the inverse of Italian Colors. There the 
plaintiffs argued that requiring them to litigate individually 
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“contravene[d] the policies of the antitrust laws.” 133 S. Ct. at 
2309. The Court rejected this argument, noting that “the anti-
trust laws do not guarantee an affordable procedural path to 
the vindication of every claim.” With regard to the enforce-
ment of the antitrust laws, the Court commented that “no leg-
islation pursues its purposes at all costs.” Id. (quoting Rodri-
guez v. United States, 480 U.S. 522, 525–526 (1987) (per cu-
riam)). In this case, the shoe is on the other foot. The FAA does 
not “pursue its purposes at all costs”—that is why it contains 
a saving clause. Id. If these statutes are to be harmonized—
and according to all the traditional rules of statutory construc-
tion, they must be—it is through the FAA’s saving clause, 
which provides for the very situation at hand. Because the 
NLRA renders Epic’s arbitration provision illegal, the FAA 
does not mandate its enforcement. 

We add that even if the dicta from Concepcion and Italian 
Colors lent itself to the Fifth Circuit’s interpretation, it would 
not apply here: Sections 7 and 8 do not mandate class arbitra-
tion. Indeed, they say nothing about class arbitration, or even 
arbitration generally. Instead, they broadly restrain employers 
from interfering with employees’ engaging in concerted activ-
ities. See 29 U.S.C. §§ 157, 158. Sections 7 and 8 stay Epic’s 
hand. (This is why, in addition to its being waived, Epic’s ar-
gument that Lewis relinquished his Section 7 rights fails.) 
Epic acted unlawfully in attempting to contract with Lewis to 
waive his Section 7 rights, regardless of whether Lewis agreed 
to that contract. The very formation of the contract was illegal. 
See Italian Colors, 133 S. Ct. at 2312 (Thomas, J., concurring) 
(noting, in adopting the narrowest characterization of the 
FAA’s saving clause of any Justice, that defenses to contract 
formation block an order compelling arbitration under FAA).  

Case 15-2820, Document 115, 06/02/2016, 1785287, Page21 of 39



18 No. 15-2997 

Finally, finding the NLRA in conflict with the FAA would 
render the FAA’s saving clause a nullity. See TRW Inc. v. An-
drews, 534 U.S. 19, 31 (2001) (noting the “cardinal principle of 
statutory construction that a statute ought, upon the whole, 
to be so construed that, if it can be prevented, no clause, sen-
tence, or word shall be superfluous, void, or insignificant”). 
Illegality is a standard contract defense contemplated by the 
FAA’s saving clause. See Buckeye Check Cashing, 546 U.S. at 
444. If the NLRA does not render an arbitration provision suf-
ficiently illegal to trigger the saving clause, the saving clause 
does not mean what it says.  

Epic warns us against creating a circuit split, noting that at 
least two circuits agree with the Fifth. See Owen v. Bristol Care, 
Inc., 702 F.3d 1050, 1052 (8th Cir. 2013) (rejecting argument 
that there is inherent conflict between NLRA/Norris LaGuar-
dia Act and FAA); Sutherland v. Ernst & Young LLP, 726 F.3d 
290, 297 n.8 (2d Cir. 2013) (rejecting NLRA-based argument 
without analysis); Richards v. Ernst & Young, LLP, 744 F.3d 
1072, 1075 n.3 (9th Cir. 2013) (noting “[w]ithout deciding the 
issue” that a number of courts have “determined that they 
should not defer to the NLRB's decision in D.R. Horton”). Of 
these courts, however, none has engaged substantively with 
the relevant arguments.  

The FAA contains a general policy “favoring arbitration 
and a liberal federal policy favoring arbitration agreements.” 
Concepcion, 563 U.S. at 346 (internal quotation marks and cita-
tions omitted). Its “substantive command” is “that arbitration 
agreements be treated like all other contracts.” See Buckeye 
Check Cashing, 546 U.S. at 447. Its purpose is “to make arbitra-
tion agreements as enforceable as other contracts, but not 
more so.” Prima Paint, 388 U.S. at 404 n.12 (holding that FAA’s 
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saving clause prevents enforcement of both void and voidable 
arbitration contracts). “To immunize an arbitration agree-
ment from judicial challenge on” a traditional ground such as 
illegality “would be to elevate it over other forms of con-
tract—a situation inconsistent with the ‘saving clause.’” Id. 
(applying same principle to fraud in the inducement). The 
FAA therefore renders Epic’s arbitration provision unenforce-
able. 

C 

Last, Epic contends that even if the NLRA does protect a 
right to class or collective action, any such right is procedural 
only, not substantive, and thus the FAA demands enforce-
ment. The right to collective action in section 7 of the NLRA is 
not, however, merely a procedural one. It instead lies at the 
heart of the restructuring of employer/employee relationships 
that Congress meant to achieve in the statute. See Allen-Brad-
ley Local No. 1111, United Elec., Radio & Mach. Workers of Am. v. 
Wis. Employ’t Relations Bd., 315 U.S. 740, 750 (1942) (“[Section 
7] guarantees labor its ‘fundamental right’ to self-organization 
and collective bargaining.” (quoting Jones & Laughlin Steel, 301 
U.S. 1, 33)); D. R. Horton, 357 N.L.R.B. No. 184, at *12 (noting 
that the Section 7 right to concerted action “is the core sub-
stantive right protected by the NLRA and is the foundation 
on which the Act and Federal labor policy rest”). That Section 
7’s rights are “substantive” is plain from the structure of the 
NLRA: Section 7 is the NLRA’s only substantive provision. 
Every other provision of the statute serves to enforce the 
rights Section 7 protects. Compare 29 U.S.C. § 157 with id. 
§§ 151–169. One of those rights is “to engage in ... concerted 
activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other mu-
tual aid or protection,” id. § 157; “concerted activities” include 
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collective, representative, and class legal proceedings. See 
Eastex, 437 U.S. at 566; Brady, 644 F.3d at 673; D. R. Horton, 357 
N.L.R.B. No. 184, at *2–3. 

The Supreme Court has held that “[b]y agreeing to arbi-
trate a statutory claim, a party does not forgo the substantive 
rights afforded by the statute; it only submits to their resolu-
tion in an arbitral, rather than a judicial, forum.” Mitsubishi 
Motors Corp. v. Soler Chrysler-Plymouth, Inc., 473 U.S. 614, 628 
(1985). (Contrary to the Fifth Circuit’s assertion in D.R. Horton, 
the Supreme Court has never held that arbitration does not 
“deny a party any statutory right.” 737 F.3d at 357.) 

Arbitration agreements that act as a “prospective waiver 
of a party’s right to pursue statutory remedies”—that is, of a 
substantive right—are not enforceable. Italian Colors, 133 S. Ct. 
at 2310 (quoting Mitsubishi Motors, 473 U.S. at 637 n.19). 
Courts routinely invalidate arbitration provisions that inter-
fere with substantive statutory rights. See, e.g., McCaskill v. 
SCI Mgmt. Corp., 285 F.3d 623, 626 (7th Cir. 2002) (holding un-
enforceable arbitration agreement that did not provide for 
award of attorney fees in accordance with right guaranteed 
by Title VII); Kristian v. Comcast Corp., 446 F.3d 25, 48 (1st Cir. 
2006) (holding unenforceable arbitration provision preclud-
ing treble damages available under federal antitrust law); 
Booker v. Robert Half Int'l, Inc., 413 F.3d 77, 83 (D.C. Cir. 2005) 
(holding unenforceable and severing clause in arbitration 
agreement proscribing exemplary and punitive damages 
available under Title VII); Hadnot v. Bay, Ltd., 344 F.3d 474, 478 
(5th Cir. 2003) (same); Morrison v. Circuit City Stores, Inc., 317 
F.3d 646, 670 (6th Cir. 2003) (holding unenforceable arbitra-
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tion agreement that limited remedies under Title VII); Pala-
dino v. Avnet Computer Techs., Inc., 134 F.3d 1054, 1062 (11th 
Cir. 1998) (same). 

Epic pushes back with three arguments, but none changes 
the result. It points out the Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 
simply creates a procedural device. We have no quarrel with 
that, but Epic forgets that its clause also prohibits the employ-
ees from using any collective device, whether in arbitration, 
outside of any tribunal, or litigation. Rule 23 is not the source 
of the collective right here; Section 7 of the NLRA is. Epic also 
notes that courts have held that other employment statutes 
that provide for Rule 23 class actions do not provide a sub-
stantive right to a class action. See, e.g., Gilmer v. Inter-
state/Johnson Lane Corp., 500 U.S. 20, 26 (1991) (Age Discrimi-
nation in Employment Act (ADEA)); D.R. Horton, 737 F.3d at 
357 (citing court of appeals cases for FLSA). It bears repeating: 
just as the NLRA is not Rule 23, it is not the ADEA or the 
FLSA. While the FLSA and ADEA allow class or collective ac-
tions, they do not guarantee collective process. See 29 U.S.C. 
§§ 216(b), 626. The NLRA does. See id. § 157. Epic’s third ar-
gument is that because Section 7 deals with how workers pur-
sue their grievances—through concerted action—it must be 
procedural. But just because the Section 7 right is associa-
tional does not mean that it is not substantive. It would be odd 
indeed to consider associational rights, such as the one guar-
anteed by the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution, non-
substantive. Moreover, if Congress had meant for Section 7 to 
cover only “concerted activities” related to collective bargain-
ing, there would have been no need for it to protect employ-
ees’ “right to ... engage in other concerted activities for the 
purpose of collective bargaining or other mutual aid or protec-
tion.” 29 U.S.C. § 157 (emphasis added).  

Case 15-2820, Document 115, 06/02/2016, 1785287, Page25 of 39



22 No. 15-2997 

IV 

Because it precludes employees from seeking any class, 
collective, or representative remedies to wage-and-hour dis-
putes, Epic’s arbitration provision violates Sections 7 and 8 of 
the NLRA. Nothing in the FAA saves the ban on collective ac-
tion. The judgment of the district court is therefore AFFIRMED. 
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____________
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____________

Before WOLLMAN, MELLOY, and COLLOTON, Circuit Judges.
____________

WOLLMAN, Circuit Judge.

The National Labor Relations Board (Board) found that Cellular Sales of
Missouri, LLC (Cellular Sales) had violated sections 7 and 8(a)(1) of the National
Labor Relations Act (NLRA), 29 U.S.C. §§ 157, 158(a)(1), by maintaining and
enforcing a mandatory arbitration agreement under which employees waived their
rights to pursue class or collective action to redress employment-related disputes in
any forum.  The Board also found that employees of Cellular Sales would reasonably
understand the arbitration agreement to waive or impede their rights to file unfair
labor practice charges with the Board.  Cellular Sales petitions for review, arguing that
the Board’s order should not be enforced, and the Board cross-applies for
enforcement.  We enforce the order in part and decline to enforce the order in part.

John Bauer, formerly an independent contractor for Cellular Sales, was hired
by the company as an employee in January 2012.  As a condition of his employment,
Bauer entered into an employment agreement that included a provision under which
he agreed to arbitrate individually “[a]ll claims, disputes, or controversies” related to

-2-

Case 15-2820, Document 115, 06/02/2016, 1785287, Page29 of 39



his employment and to waive any class or collective proceeding (arbitration
agreement).  The arbitration agreement provided in relevant part:

All claims, disputes, or controversies arising out of, or in relation to this
document or Employee’s employment with Company shall be decided
by arbitration . . . . Employee hereby agrees to arbitrate any such claims,
disputes, or controversies only in an individual capacity and not as a
plaintiff or class member in any purported class, collective action, or
representative proceeding. . . . The decision of the arbitrator shall be
final, binding, and enforceable in any court of competent jurisdiction and
the parties agree that there shall be no appeal from the arbitrator’s
decision. . . . Except for the exchange of documents that the parties
intend to use to support their claims and defend against the other parties’
claims, there shall be no interrogatories, depositions or other discovery
in any arbitration hereunder.

Bauer’s employment with Cellular Sales ended in late May 2012. 
Approximately five months later he filed a putative class-action lawsuit against the
company in federal court, alleging violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA),
29 U.S.C. §§ 201-219.  Cellular Sales moved to dismiss the lawsuit and compel
arbitration.  The district court1 granted the motion, concluding that the arbitration
agreement—including the class-action waiver—was enforceable.  Bauer then
commenced an arbitration proceeding against Cellular Sales.  The parties eventually
settled, and the district court granted their joint motion to approve the settlement and
to dismiss Bauer’s lawsuit with prejudice.  

While his lawsuit was pending, Bauer filed an unfair labor practice charge with
the Board, claiming that Cellular Sales violated his right to engage in protected
concerted activity in violation of sections 7 and 8(a)(1) of the NLRA when it required
him to sign an arbitration agreement that included a class-action waiver.  The Board

1The Honorable Beth Phillips, United States District Judge for the Western
District of Missouri. 
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issued a complaint, and an administrative law judge (ALJ) ruled in favor of the Board,
concluding that Cellular Sales’s arbitration agreement violated the NLRA because of
its individual arbitration requirement and because employees would reasonably
interpret the arbitration agreement as barring or restricting their rights to file unfair
labor practice charges with the Board.  The ALJ also concluded that Cellular Sales had
violated the NLRA by moving to dismiss Bauer’s putative class-action lawsuit and
compel enforcement of the arbitration agreement.

The Board affirmed and adopted the ALJ’s rulings and findings.  The Board
ordered Cellular Sales to either rescind the arbitration agreement or revise it to clarify
that, by signing the agreement, employees do not waive their rights to pursue
employment-related class or collective actions in all forums and are not restricted in
their rights to file charges with the Board.  It also ordered Cellular Sales to notify all
of its current and former employees of these changes; to notify the district court that
these changes were made and that the company no longer opposed Bauer’s lawsuit
(even though the lawsuit had been dismissed over a year earlier); and to reimburse
Bauer for legal fees and expenses incurred in opposing Cellular Sales’s motion to
dismiss and compel arbitration (even though Cellular Sales had prevailed on its
motion, Bauer had not appealed, and the parties had ultimately settled).  This petition
for review and cross-application for enforcement followed.

We review the Board’s findings of fact for substantial evidence on the record
as a whole, that is, for such relevant evidence as “‘a reasonable mind might accept as
adequate to support’ a finding.”  NLRB v. Am. Firestop Sols., Inc., 673 F.3d 766,
767-68 (8th Cir. 2012) (quoting Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 477
(1951)).  We review the Board’s conclusions of law de novo.  Id. at 768.  We will
defer to the Board’s interpretation of the NLRA “so long as it is rational and
consistent with that law,” id. (citations omitted), but we need not defer to the Board’s
interpretation of other federal statutes, see, e.g., Owen v. Bristol Care, Inc., 702 F.3d
1050, 1054 (8th Cir. 2013); see also Hoffman Plastic Compounds, Inc. v. NLRB, 535
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U.S. 137, 144 (2002) (“[W]e have . . . never deferred to the Board’s . . . preferences
where such preferences potentially trench upon federal statutes and policies unrelated
to the NLRA.”).  

Cellular Sales first argues that the Board erred in finding that because the class-
action waiver restricted employees’ substantive rights under section 7 to engage in
protected concerted activity, the arbitration agreement violated section 8(a)(1) of the
NLRA.  Cellular Sales notes that in reaching this conclusion, the Board relied on two
of its prior decisions, D.R. Horton, Inc., 357 N.L.R.B. No. 184, 2012 WL 36274 (Jan.
3, 2012), and Murphy Oil USA, Inc., 361 N.L.R.B. No. 72, 2014 WL 5465454 (Oct.
28, 2014), each of which concluded that arbitration agreements imposing similar
class-action waivers violated section 8(a)(1).  Cellular Sales points out that the
Board’s reasoning in those decisions was directly rejected by the Fifth Circuit.  See
D.R. Horton, Inc. v. NLRB, 737 F.3d 344, 362 (5th Cir. 2013) (denying enforcement
in relevant part, rejecting Board’s position that use of class-action procedure was a
“substantive right” under section 7 of the NLRA, and concluding that “[b]ecause the
Board’s interpretation does not fall within the [Federal Arbitration Act’s (FAA)]
‘saving clause,’ and because the NLRA does not contain a congressional command
exempting the statute from application of the FAA,” the arbitration agreement,
including the class-action waiver, “must be enforced according to its terms”); Murphy
Oil USA, Inc. v. NLRB, 808 F.3d 1013, 1018 (5th Cir. 2015) (denying enforcement
in relevant part and concluding that the employer “committed no unfair labor practice
by requiring employees to relinquish their right to pursue class or collective claims in
all forums by signing the arbitration agreements at issue”).  Cellular Sales also points
to our court’s decision rejecting the Board’s reasoning—albeit in a case that was not
on review from a Board decision.  Owen v. Brisol Care, Inc., 702 F.3d 1050, 1053-55
(8th Cir. 2013) (rejecting the Board’s position in D.R. Horton and joining “fellow
circuits that have held that arbitration agreements containing class waivers are
enforceable in claims brought under the FLSA”).  
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The Board acknowledges that its position has twice been rejected by the Fifth
Circuit, and it concedes that our holding in Owen is fatal to its argument “that a
mandatory agreement requiring individual arbitration of work-related claims” violates
the NLRA.  Consequently, in addition to filing its brief in this matter, the Board filed
a motion for initial hearing en banc and requested that we reconsider our holding in
Owen.  The Board’s motion was denied, and thus, in accordance with Owen, we
conclude that Cellular Sales did not violate section 8(a)(1) by requiring its employees
to enter into an arbitration agreement that included a waiver of class or collective
actions in all forums to resolve employment-related disputes.  Accordingly, we grant
the petition for review and decline to enforce the Board’s order with respect to this
issue.  See Owen, 702 F.3d at 1053-55; see also D.R. Horton, 737 F.3d at 362;
Murphy Oil, 808 F.3d at 1018. 

Cellular Sales next argues that the Board erred when it found that the company
violated section 8(a)(1) by seeking to enforce the arbitration agreement through a
motion to dismiss and compel arbitration in Bauer’s putative class-action lawsuit.  The
Board determined that “an employer’s enforcement of an unlawful rule . . .
independently violates [s]ection 8(a)(1)” and concluded that Cellular Sales’s motion
to dismiss and compel arbitration sought to enforce an unlawful contract and thereby
interfere with or restrain employees from exercising their rights under the NLRA.  The
Board specifically noted that in finding this separate violation of the NLRA, it was
“rely[ing] solely on the principle that the enforcement of an unlawful provision is, in
itself, an independent violation of [section] 8(a)(1).”  As a remedy for this violation,
the Board ordered Cellular Sales to reimburse Bauer “for all reasonable expenses and
legal fees, with interest, incurred in opposing [Cellular Sales’s] unlawful motion to
compel individual arbitration.”  It also ordered Cellular Sales to notify the district
court “that it no longer oppose[d Bauer’s class-action lawsuit] on the basis of the
arbitration agreement.”
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Because the class-action waiver did not violate section 8(a)(1), Cellular Sales’s
attempt to enforce the class-action waiver likewise did not violate section 8(a)(1). 
Accordingly, we grant the petition for review and decline to enforce the Board’s order
with respect to this issue.  We also decline to enforce the Board’s remedies related to
this issue.  See Murphy Oil, 808 F.3d at 1021 (declining to enforce Board’s award of
legal fees and expenses in similar circumstances).  

Cellular Sales next argues that the Board erred when it found that the company
violated section 8(a)(1) because its employees would reasonably construe the
arbitration agreement to bar or restrict their rights to file charges with the Board or
seek access to the Board’s processes.  The NLRA prohibits an employer from entering
into an agreement with employees that circumscribes the Board’s authority to prevent
unfair labor practices.  See 29 U.S.C. § 160(a).  Thus, an arbitration agreement
violates section 8(a)(1) if it expressly prohibits employees from filing unfair labor
practice charges with the Board or if it would be reasonably construed by employees
to restrict or preclude such activity.  See D.R. Horton, 737 F.3d at 363 (“Even in the
absence of express language prohibiting section 7 activity, a company nonetheless
violates section 8(a)(1) if employees would reasonably construe the language to
prohibit section 7 activity.” (quoting Cintas Corp. v. NLRB, 482 F.3d 463, 467 (D.C.
Cir. 2007) (internal quotation marks omitted)).  

As set forth above, Cellular Sales’s arbitration agreement included a broad
requirement that “[a]ll claims, disputes, or controversies arising out of, or in relation
to” employment with the company “shall be decided by arbitration.”  Given “the
absence of any limits to this broadly worded provision,” the Board concluded that the
arbitration agreement violated section 8(a)(1) “because employees would reasonably
believe [the agreement] waived or limited their rights to file Board charges or to
access the Board’s processes.” 

-7-

Case 15-2820, Document 115, 06/02/2016, 1785287, Page34 of 39



Cellular Sales contends that the specific language of the arbitration agreement,
read as a whole and in context, could not be reasonably construed by employees to
preclude or restrict their rights to file charges with the Board.  It argues that because
the arbitration agreement does not expressly prohibit employees from filing charges
with the Board and makes no reference to agency or administrative proceedings,
employees could not read the agreement as having any bearing on their rights to file
charges with the Board.  It also contends that because the agreement states that an
arbitration decision is “final, binding and enforceable in any court of competent
jurisdiction,” and refers to interrogatories, depositions, and other discovery-related
matters that do not generally apply in Board proceedings, the “implication” is that the
arbitration agreement prohibits only court proceedings.2  We are not persuaded.

The Board has held that an arbitration agreement violates section 8(a)(1) when
it provides that the agreement does not constitute a waiver of an employee’s obligation
to file a timely charge with the Board.  In Bill’s Electric, Inc., 350 N.L.R.B. 292, 296
(2007), the agreement provided that arbitration was the exclusive method of dispute
resolution, but also stated that it “shall not be a waiver of any requirement for the
Employee to timely file any charge with the NLRB, EEOC, or any State Agency . . .
as may be required by law to present and preserve any claimed statutory violation in
a timely manner.”  This provision was not sufficient to alert employees that they
retained rights to file charges with the Board because, “[a]t the very least, the
mandatory . . . arbitration policy would reasonably be read by . . . employees as
substantially restricting, if not totally prohibiting, their access to the Board’s

2Cellular Sales contends that the fact that Bauer actually filed an unfair labor
practice charge with the Board establishes that the arbitration agreement cannot be
reasonably construed by employees as limiting or precluding that activity.  But the
“‘actual practice of employees is not determinative’ of whether an employer has
committed an unfair labor practice.”  Murphy Oil, 808 F.3d at 1019 (citation omitted). 
Instead, the question is whether the employer’s action is “likely to have a chilling
effect” on its employees’ exercise of their rights under the NLRA.  D.R. Horton, 737
F.3d at 357. 
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processes.”  Id.; see also D.R. Horton, 737 F.3d at 364 (noting that references to
“court,” “judge,” and “jury” in mandatory arbitration agreement were “insufficient to
counter the breadth of the waiver created by the phrase ‘right to file a lawsuit or other
civil proceeding’”).  The Board has also found a violation of section 8(a)(1) when an
agreement required arbitration of “any other legal or equitable claims and causes of
action recognized by local, state or federal law or regulations” because, although the
language did not explicitly restrict proceedings before the Board, “the breadth of the
policy language” would result in employees reasonably interpreting the agreement to
prohibit those proceedings.  U-Haul Co. of Cal., 347 N.L.R.B. 375, 377-78 (2006),
enforced, 255 F. App’x 527 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (mem.).  Similarly, the Board affirmed
an ALJ’s finding of a section 8(a)(1) violation when an arbitration agreement stated
that “all disputes” and “legal claims” were required to be arbitrated, Board charges
were not included in a list of exceptions, and the agreement provided that “such claims
shall not be filed or pursued in court.”  Utility Vault Co., 345 N.L.R.B. 79, 81 (2005). 
And in Murphy Oil, the Fifth Circuit enforced the Board’s finding that an arbitration
agreement requiring employees to arbitrate “any and all disputes or claims” related in
any manner to employment and to waive class or collective action “in any other
forum” could “create ‘[t]he reasonable impression . . . that an employee [was] waiving
not just [her] trial rights, but [her] administrative rights as well.’”  808 F.3d at 1019
(quoting D.R. Horton, 737 F.3d at 363-64).  

Although the language used by Cellular Sales in its arbitration agreement is not
identical to the language used in Bill’s Electric, U-Haul, Utility Vault, or Murphy Oil,
it is similar in both its breadth and its generality, and thus we find those cases
instructive.  Moreover, the Board’s construction of the NLRA is “entitled to
considerable deference, and must be upheld if it is reasonable and consistent with the
policies of the [NLRA].”  St. John’s Mercy Health Sys. v. NLRB, 436 F.3d 843, 846
(8th Cir. 2006) (citations omitted).  The Board’s finding that Cellular Sales violated
section 8(a)(1) because its employees would reasonably interpret the arbitration
agreement to limit or preclude their rights to file unfair labor practice charges with the
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Board is reasonable and is consistent with the NLRA.  Accordingly, we deny the
petition for review and enforce the Board’s order with respect to this issue, including
corrective action with respect to any employees who remain subject to the arbitration
agreement.  See Murphy Oil, 808 F.3d at 1019.

Finally, Cellular Sales argues that the Board’s order is unenforceable in its
entirety because Bauer’s unfair labor practices charge was untimely under section
10(b) of the NLRA, 29 U.S.C. § 160(b), and because Bauer was no longer an
“employee” under section 2(3) of the NLRA, id. § 152(3), when the charge was filed. 
Again, we disagree.

Section 10(b) provides that “no complaint shall issue based upon any unfair
labor practice occurring more than six months prior to the filing of the charge with the
Board.”  29 U.S.C. § 160(b).  Cellular Sales argues that Bauer entered into the
arbitration agreement “on or about January 1, 2012,” but did not file his unfair labor
practice charge until December 2012, well after the six-month limitation period under
section 10(b) had expired.  The Board rejected Cellular Sales’s argument that the
charge was time-barred, noting that the parties had stipulated that “[s]ince about
January 1, 2012, [Cellular Sales] has promulgated, maintained, and enforced” the
arbitration agreement—a stipulation that included the relevant six-month period
preceding the unfair labor practice charge Bauer filed on December 11, 2012.  The
Board found a violation because, it noted, “the maintenance of an unlawful rule is a
continuing violation, regardless of when the rule was first promulgated.”  We agree.

The violation found here is not related exclusively to the circumstances that
existed when Bauer signed the arbitration agreement in January 2012.  Rather, at issue
is the legality of Cellular Sales’s continued maintenance of the agreement.   The Board
has repeatedly held that an employer commits a continuing violation of the NLRA
throughout the period during which an unlawful agreement is maintained.  See, e.g.,
Gamestop Corp., 363 N.L.R.B. No. 89, 2015 WL 9592400, at *1 (Dec. 31, 2015)
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(rejecting argument that complaint was time-barred by section 10(b) where employer
continued to maintain the unlawful agreement during the six-month period preceding
the charge, and noting that maintenance of an unlawful workplace rule constitutes a
continuing violation that is not time-barred by section 10(b));  The Pep Boys, 363
N.L.R.B. No. 65, 2015 WL 9460022 (Dec. 23, 2015) (same); Register-Guard, 351
N.L.R.B. 1110, 1110 n.2 (2007) (noting that “[t]he maintenance during the 10(b)
period of a rule that transgresses employee rights is itself a violation of [section]
8(a)(1)”), enforced in part, 571 F.3d 53 (D.C. Cir. 2009).  We have determined that
employees would reasonably interpret the arbitration agreement to bar or interfere
with their rights to file unfair labor practice charges with the Board.  Cellular Sales
stipulated to the fact that it maintained the arbitration agreement during the relevant
period.  Having been filed during the period in which Cellular Sales maintained the
unlawful arbitration agreement, Bauer’s unfair labor practice charge was thus not
time-barred.  See, e.g., Gamestop, 363 N.L.R.B. No. 89, 2015 WL 9592400, at *1. 

Cellular Sales also argues that Bauer was not an “employee” within the
meaning of section 2(3) of the NLRA because he was not employed by the company
during the six-month period preceding his unfair labor practice charge.  Section 2(3)
provides that “[t]he term ‘employee’ shall include any employee,” a definition the
Board has interpreted in the “broad generic sense” to “include members of the
working class generally.” Briggs Mfg. Co., 75 N.L.R.B. 569, 571 (1947) (“This broad
definition covers, in addition to employees of a particular employer, also employees
of another employer, or former employees of a particular employer, or even applicants
for employment.”).  The Board has long held that a former employee continues to be
an “employee” within the meaning of the NLRA.  See Little Rock Crate & Basket Co.,
227 N.L.R.B. 1406, 1406 (1977) (noting that “employee” under section 2(3) of the
NLRA means “members of the working class generally” and includes “former
employees of a particular employer”); see also Haynes Bldg. Servs. LLC, 363
N.L.R.B. No. 125, 2016 WL 737040 (Feb. 23, 2016) (noting that “a discharged
employee remains a statutory employee entitled to the full protection of the
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[NLRA]”).  Given the NLRA’s broad definition of “employee” and the considerable
deference we owe to the Board’s reasonable construction of the NLRA, we conclude
that the Board did not err in finding that Bauer was an “employee” under the NLRA. 
See Allied Chem. & Alkali Workers, Local No. 1 v. Pittsburgh Plate Glass Co., 404
U.S. 157, 166 (1971) (noting that “the task of determining the contours of the term
‘employee’ has been assigned primarily” to the Board).  In sum, because Cellular
Sales’s unlawful arbitration agreement remained in effect and governed Bauer both
as a current and as a former employee during the section 10(b) limitations period, his
unfair labor practice charge was not time-barred.

The petition for review is granted in part and denied in part, and the Board’s
order is denied in part and enforced in part. 

______________________________
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